# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-22-2017

## State v. Williams Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44300

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature of the Case

A jury found Kent Glen Williams guilty of two bank robberies, use of a firearm in the commission of one of the robberies, and unlawful possession of a firearm. Mr. Williams raises two issues on appeal. First, he argues the district court abused its discretion by denying his motion to sever the bank robbery charges due to the joinder's prejudicial effect. Second, he contends the prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument, which amounted to fundamental error. In light of these errors, Mr. Williams respectfully requests this Court vacate the district court's judgment of conviction and remand this case for further proceedings.

## Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

In September of 2015, the grand jury returned a true bill indicting Mr. Williams on one count of robbery, in violation of I.C. § 18-6501. (R., pp.32–33.) Mr. Williams allegedly robbed a Key Bank on April 14, 2015. (R., p.32.) The same day, the grand jury returned another true bill with an Amended Indictment, charging Mr. Williams with three additional offenses for unlawful possession of a firearm, in violation of I.C. § 18-3316, possession of a controlled substance, and possession of drug paraphernalia. (R., pp.35–36.) Mr. Williams entered a plea of not guilty, and the district court set the trial for late February of 2016. (R., p.49.) The State later filed an Information Part II alleging Mr. Williams was a persistent violator of the law under I.C. § 19-2514 due to

two prior felony convictions. (R., pp.62–63; Tr. Vol. I,<sup>1</sup> p.1, L.1–p.8, L.15 (arraignment on persistent violator).)

Then, almost four months after the Amended Indictment and about a month and one-half before trial, the grand jury returned a Second Amended Indictment. (R., pp.87–88.) In this indictment, Mr. Williams was charged with the April bank robbery (Count 1) and unlawful possession of a firearm (Count 2), plus two new offenses for a second robbery of a Key Bank on July 22, 2015 (Count 3), and the use of a handgun during the commission of the July robbery (Count 4), in violation of I.C. § 19-2520. (R., pp.87–88.)

Mr. Williams then filed a motion for relief from prejudicial joinder.<sup>2</sup> (R., pp.122–29.) He asserted Counts 1 and 2 should be severed from Counts 3 and 4 and later that only Count 1 should be severed from Counts 2, 3, and 4. (R., pp.122, 129; Tr. Vol. I, p.46, Ls.3–6.) Among other arguments, Mr. Williams argued trying the two robbery charges together would unfairly prejudice him because the jury would find him guilty of the July robbery based on criminal propensity. (R., pp.125–29.) The district court held a hearing on the motion, took the matter under advisement, and subsequently issued an oral ruling. (See *generally* Tr. Vol. II; Tr. Vol. I, p.49, L.22–p.64, L.13). The district court reasoned that evidence of one robbery would be admissible in the trial of the other as evidence of identity and a common scheme or plan under Idaho Rule of Evidence

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There are three transcripts on appeal. The first, cited as Volume I, contains various pre-trial hearings held on November 30, 2015, January 15, 2016, February 1, 2016, and March 11, 2016, the jury trial held from March 28 to March 30, 2016, and post-trial hearings held on May 6, 2016, and May 23, 2016. The second, cited as Volume II, contains a hearing on Mr. Williams's motion to sever, held on January 29, 2016. The third, cited as Volume III, contains a hearing on Mr. Williams's motion regarding excessive restraints, held on February 5, 2016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This was Mr. Williams's second motion for relief from prejudicial joinder. His first motion was withdrawn. (R., pp.75–78; Tr. Vol. I, p.9, Ls.17–22.)

("I.R.E.") 404(b). (Tr. Vol. I, p.52, L.17-p.64, L.12.) The district court denied Mr. Williams's motion to sever the charges. (Tr. Vol. I, p.64, L.13.)

Mr. Williams proceeded to trial. (Tr. Vol. I, p.232, L.16–p.832, L.3.) Just prior to trial, the parties stipulated to the filing of an Amended Information, which renumbered the counts so the April robbery (Count 1), the July robbery (now Count 2), and the use of a firearm in the commission of the July robbery (now Count 3) would be tried in Part 1 of the trial and the unlawful possession of the firearm (now Count 4) and the persistent violator enhancement would be tried in Part 2. (R., pp.314–15; Tr. Vol. I, p.185, L.20–p.204, L.20.) After Part 1 of the trial, the jury returned a guilty verdict on Counts 1, 2, and 3. (Tr. Vol. I, p.836, L.19–p.837, L.19; R., pp.372–73.) The district court immediately proceeded to Part 2 of the trial. (Tr. Vol. I, p.837, L.20–p.868, L.7.) The jury returned a guilty verdict on Count 4 as well as the persistent violator enhancement. (Tr. Vol. I, p.869, L.8–p.871, L.16; R., p.374.)

The district court sentenced Mr. Williams to life imprisonment, with twelve years fixed, for the April robbery, and life imprisonment, with twenty years fixed, for the July robbery with the use of a firearm, to be served consecutively. (R., p.395; Tr. Vol. I, p.913, Ls.1–13.) For unlawful possession of a firearm, the district court sentenced Mr. Williams to five years fixed, to be served consecutive to the April robbery sentence and concurrent with the July robbery sentence. (R., p.363; Tr. Vol. I, p.913, Ls.14–17.) Thus, Mr. Williams's aggregate sentence was life in prison, with thirty-two years fixed.

Mr. Williams filed a timely Notice of Appeal from the district court's Judgment of Conviction and Commitment. (R., pp.399–402.)

## <u>ISSUES</u>

- I. Did the district court abuse its discretion by denying Mr. Williams's motion for relief from the prejudicial joinder of both bank robbery charges?
- II. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by disparaging defense counsel and vouching for the police during closing arguments?

#### ARGUMENT

I.

## The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Denied Mr. Williams's Motion For Relief From The Prejudicial Joinder Of Both Bank Robbery Charges

#### A. Introduction

Mr. Williams asserts the district court abused its discretion by denying his motion for relief from prejudicial joinder because the jury could have found Mr. Williams guilty of the April robbery and then found him guilty of the July robbery based solely on criminal disposition. If tried separately, the evidence of one robbery would not be admissible in the trial of the other. Therefore, the district court should have granted Mr. Williams's motion and severed the two robbery charges to prevent any unfair prejudice.

#### B. Standard Of Review

The district court's denial of a motion to sever is reviewed "under an abuse of discretion standard." *State v. Orellana-Castro*, 158 Idaho 757, 760 (2015).

When a trial court's discretionary decision is reviewed on appeal, the appellate court conducts a multi-tiered inquiry to determine: (1) whether the lower court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the lower court acted within the boundaries of such discretion and consistently with any legal standards applicable to the specific choices before it; and (3) whether the lower court reached its decision by an exercise of reason.

State v. Diaz, 158 Idaho 629, 634 (Ct. App. 2015).

C. The District Court Abused Its Discretion By Not Severing The Joinder Of The Two Bank Robbery Charges Because Evidence Of One Robbery Would Not Be Admissible In The Trial Of The Other

Idaho Criminal Rule ("I.C.R.") 8 permits the State to charge two or more offenses in the same complaint, indictment, or information as separate counts if the offenses "are

based on the same act or transaction or on two (2) or more acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan." I.C.R. 8. Even if properly joined, "the defendant may obtain relief from the joinder . . . by showing that joinder will result in unfair prejudice." *State v. Wilske*, 158 Idaho 643, 644–45 (Ct. App. 2015).

I.C.R. 14 governs relief from prejudicial joinder. It states in relevant part:

If it appears that a defendant or the state is prejudiced by a joinder of offenses or of defendants in a complaint, indictment or information or by such joinder for trial together, the court may order the state to elect between counts, grant separate trials of counts, grant a severance of defendants, or provide whatever other relief justice requires.

I.C.R. 14. "An abuse of discretion standard is applied when reviewing the denial of a motion to sever joinder pursuant to I.C.R. 14, which presumes that joinder was proper in the first place." Diaz, 158 Idaho at 634 (citing State v. Field, 144 Idaho 559, 564–65 (2007)). With respect to joinder, and it stands to reason with severance as well, its propriety "is 'determined by what is alleged, not what the proof eventually shows." Field, 144 Idaho at 565 (quoting State v. Cochran, 97 Idaho 71, 73 (1975)).

When reviewing the denial of a severance motion, "the inquiry on appeal is whether the defendant has presented facts demonstrating that unfair prejudice resulted from a joint trial." *State v. Blake*, 161 Idaho 33, 35 (Ct. App. 2016). The Idaho appellate courts have identified three potential sources of prejudice:

(1) the jury may confuse and cumulate the evidence, and convict the defendant of one or both crimes when it would not convict him of either if it

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In district court, Mr. Williams moved for relief from the prejudicial joinder; he did not argue the joinder itself was improper. (R., pp.122–29.) The district court, however, discussed whether the initial joinder was proper in its oral ruling on Mr. Williams's motion. (Tr. Vol. I, p.52, L.12–p.59, L.11.) While not conceding the issue, Mr. Williams limits his argument on appeal to the severance issue raised in his motion below.

could keep the evidence properly segregated; (2) the defendant may be confounded in presenting defenses, as where he desires to assert his privilege against self-incrimination with respect to one crime but not the other; or (3) the jury may conclude that the defendant is guilty of one crime and then find him guilty of the other because of his criminal disposition.

Wilske, 158 Idaho at 645 (quoting State v. Abel, 104 Idaho 865, 867–68 (1983)). "The defendant has the burden of showing such prejudice." Blake, 161 Idaho at 35.

In this case, the third source of prejudice is at issue. As is the case here, "the alleged prejudice is often that evidence of the defendant's conduct which would be admissible in the prosecution of one offense would not be admissible under [I.R.E.] 404(b) in the prosecution of the other offense if it were tried separately." *Orellana-Castro*, 158 Idaho at 760. The risk is that the jury will reach a guilty verdict on the basis that the defendant "is a bad person." *Abel*, 104 Idaho at 868. However, "showing that evidence regarding one offense could not be admitted in a separate trial on the other offense does not ipso facto establish that severance is required." *Wilske*, 158 Idaho at 46. In some cases, "[e]ven if some part of the evidence of either of the incidents were inadmissible in a separate trial," the evidence for each offense may be "simple and distinct," and therefore severance is not required. *Abel*, 104 Idaho at 870. Thus, "the ultimate question is whether the evidence of multiple offenses in a joint trial was unfairly prejudicial to the defendant with respect to any of the individual charges." *Wilske*, 158 Idaho at 645.

In reviewing the third source of prejudice, the Court "looks at the evidence of the separate counts to determine whether, if the counts had been tried separately, the separate evidence could have been admitted in the separate trials." *Diaz*, 158 Idaho at 634. Under I.R.E. 404(b):

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that the person acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident . . . .

I.R.E. 404(b). The prohibition on other crimes evidence "has its source in the common law. The common law rule was that the doing of a criminal act, not part of the issue, is not admissible as evidence of the doing of the criminal act charged." *State v. Grist*, 147 Idaho 49, 52 (2009) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

The Court applies to two-part standard when reviewing the district court's admission of other crimes evidence. *State v. Ehrlick*, 158 Idaho 900, 913 (2015). First, "whether, under I.R.E. 404(b), the evidence is relevant as a matter of law to an issue other than the defendant's character or criminal propensity," and second, "whether, under I.R.E. 403, the district court abused its discretion in finding the probative value of the evidence was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Joy*, 155 Idaho 1, 8 (2013)). "Evidence is relevant if it has 'any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." *State v. Sheldon*, 145 Idaho 225, 228 (2007) (quoting I.R.E. 401).

In this case, the evidence of one robbery would not be admissible pursuant to I.R.E. 404(b) in the trial of the other. Other crimes evidence "should only be admitted if 'relevant to prove . . . a common scheme or plan embracing the commission of two or more crimes so related to each other that proof of one tends to establish the other, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." State v. Pepcorn, 152 Idaho 678, 689 (2012) (emphasis added) (quoting State v. Johnson, 148 Idaho 664, 668

(2010)); see also Orellana-Castro, 158 Idaho at 762 ("a common scheme or plan must embrace the commission of two or more crimes so related to each other that proof of one tends to establish the other"). The Court has cautioned that "trial courts must carefully scrutinize evidence offered as 'corroboration' or as demonstrating a 'common scheme or plan' in order to avoid the erroneous introduction of evidence that is merely probative of the defendant's propensity to engage in criminal behavior." Grist, 147 Idaho at 53. Here, the evidence of the April and July robberies are not so related that the facts of one establish Mr. Williams as the perpetrator of the other. As found by the district court, the similarities between the two robberies were: (1) the robberies occurred approximately three months apart; (2) both banks were Boise branches of Key Bank; and (3) both banks were robbed shortly after the bank opened. (Tr. Vol., p.54, Ls.16–19, Ls.22–24; Tr. Vol. II, p.32, Ls.8–14.) The similarities between the perpetrators were: (1) both were identified as a white male between 5'8" and just over 6" tall; (2) both were wearing a dark-billed cap with a long sleeve jacket; (3) both wore similar mirrored aviator-style sunglasses; (4) both wore a handkerchief over the mouth and nose; (5) the jacket and handkerchief in each robbery were color-coordinated; (6) both perpetrators, appearing to have knowledge of the bank, demanded money from two teller drawers out of view of bank customers; (7) both demanded 20s, 50s, and 100s; (8) both demanded no dye, bait, or tracker bills; and (9) both quickly identified the tracker bill4 in each robbery. (Tr. Vol. I, p.54, L.19-p.57, L.3; Tr. Vol. II, p.32, L.15-p.37, L.6, p.37, Ls.15-21.) With regard to the handkerchief, it was easily pulled over the perpetrator's face in the April robbery, which indicated to the district court "some sort of binding system in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A tracker bill feels thicker than a regular bill. (Tr. Vol. II, p.36, Ls.11–20.)

back" to keep it together. (Tr. Vol. I, p.55, Ls.10-13; Tr. Vol. II, p.34, Ls.5-22.) In the July robbery, one of the bank tellers observed a hand-sewn elastic band on the back of the handkerchief. (Tr. Vol. I, p.55, Ls.13-17; Tr. Vol. II, p.34, Ls.5-22.) These facts, taken as a whole, are not distinctive or remarkable. An early morning bank robbery committed by an average white male with a disguise and some knowledge of teller drawers and tracking bills is not so unusual that it tends to identify the individual of the prior robbery. Rather, these facts are common components of bank robberies. See State v. Sanchez, Nos. 43293, 43294, 2017 Opinion No. 16S, at pp.6-7 (Ct. App. Feb. 27, 2017) (holding the defendant's opportunistic tendency to abuse young female children in his care was "unfortunately entirely unremarkable in sexual abuse cases" and did not show a common scheme or plan). Moreover, a key distinction between the two robberies casts doubt on the commonalities—in the April robbery, the perpetrator did not display a weapon; in the July robbery, the perpetrator showed the tellers a handgun in his waistband. (Tr. Vol. I, p.56, Ls.12–14; Tr. Vol. II, p.36, L.24–p.37, L.3.) This difference sets apart the two robberies. Thus, the evidence of one robbery was not relevant to any enumerated purpose under I.R.E. 404(b) because the evidence fails to show a common scheme or plan in order to establish identity.

Even if the evidence of one robbery was admissible in the trial of the other under I.R.E. 404(b), the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed any probative value. See I.R.E. 403 ("Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice . . . .").

The prejudicial effect of [character evidence] is that it induces the jury to believe the accused is more likely to have committed the crime on trial because he is a man of criminal character. Character evidence, therefore, takes the jury away from their primary consideration of the guilt or

innocence of the particular crime on trial. The drafters of I.R.E. 404(b) were careful to guard against the admission of evidence that would unduly prejudice the defendant, while still allowing the prosecution to present probative evidence.

*Grist*, 147 Idaho at 52. First, when examining the prejudicial effect of the April robbery evidence against the July robbery, it is critical to recognize that most of the evidence identifying Mr. Williams as the perpetrator of the July robbery stemmed from the evidence of the April robbery. In the April robbery, the police were able to identify the getaway car and connect that car to Mr. Williams. (Tr. Vol. I, p.56, L.14–p.57, L.13; Tr. Vol. II, p.38, Ls.3–22, p.39, Ls.5–11.) In the April robbery, the police observed a bump on the perpetrator's hand from the bank's surveillance video and then observed a similar bump on Mr. Williams's hand. (Tr. Vol. I, p.57, L.14–21; Tr. Vol. II, p.38, L.23–p.39, L.4.) No getaway car was observed in July robbery. No videos showed a bump on the perpetrator's hand in the July robbery. Unlike the getaway car or the hand marking, there was nothing from the July robbery itself to identify Mr. Williams as the perpetrator.<sup>5</sup> Thus, the identification of Mr. Williams as the perpetrator of the July robbery was dependent on his identification as the perpetrator of the April robbery. Despite any probative value in the April robbery to identify Mr. Williams, the "overwhelming effect" of

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> During the execution of a search warrant after the July robbery, the police found a handgun in Mr. Williams's motel room that the district court found was similar to the gun used in the July robbery. (Tr. Vol. I, p.58, Ls.6–8.) This is the only independent evidence to support an identification of Mr. Williams as the perpetrator of the July robbery. In addition, the police found two other sets of matching long-sleeved shirts and handkerchiefs, as well as sewing materials and aviator sunglasses. (Tr. Vol. I, p.57, L.22–p.58, L.6, p.58, Ls.13–15; Tr. Vol. II, p.37, L.11–p.38, L.2.) The police also found \$7,000 in one hundred dollar bills, some of them sequential, but none were recorded, tracker, or bait bills. (Tr. Vol. I, p.58, Ls.8–13; Tr. Vol. II, p.37, Ls.7–10.) These items, however, are not more attributable to one robbery than the other. These items do not affirmatively show that Mr. Williams committed *both* robberies.

the evidence would have emphasized Mr. Williams's propensity to rob banks and thus induce the jury to find Mr. Williams's guilty of the July robbery. *Sanchez*, 2017 Opinion No. 16S, at p.9. Put another way, lacking identification evidence from the July robbery itself, there was a substantial risk the jury would find Mr. Williams robbed the bank in July because he did it a few months earlier in April. *Grist*, 147 Idaho at 54.

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