Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-19-2017

State v. Williams Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44300

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

For the first time on appeal, Williams claims that the prosecutor's argument was improper, rising to the level of prosecutorial misconduct and fundamental error. (Appellant's brief, pp. 13-19.) Williams' claim is meritless.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

"When prosecutorial misconduct is not objected to at trial, Idaho appellate courts may only order a reversal when the defendant demonstrates that the violation in question qualifies as fundamental error." <u>State v. Perry</u>, 150 Idaho 209, 227, 245 P.3d 961, 979 (2010). To prevail on a claim of fundamental error a defendant must demonstrate (1) violation of an unwaived constitutional right; (2) that the error is clear or obvious and lack of objection was not tactical; and (3) prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 226, 245 P.3d at 978.

C. Williams' Claims Of Fundamental Error Are Without Merit

Prosecutors have considerable latitude in closing argument and have the right to discuss the evidence and the inferences and deductions arising therefrom. <u>State v. Payne</u>, 146 Idaho 548, 566, 199 P.3d 123, 141 (2008); <u>State v. Sheahan</u>, 139 Idaho 267, 280, 77 P.3d 956, 969 (2003); <u>State v. Phillips</u>, 144 Idaho 82, 86, 156 P.3d 583, 587 (Ct. App. 2007). The purpose of the prosecutor's closing argument is to enlighten the jury and help the jurors remember and interpret the evidence. <u>State v. Reynolds</u>, 120 Idaho 445, 450, 816 P.2d 1002, 1007 (Ct. App. 1991). Where, as here, the complained of comments occurred during a rebuttal closing argument, the United States Supreme Court has held, "[t]he prosecutors' comments must be evaluated in light of the defense argument that preceded it." <u>Darden v. Wainwright</u>, 477 U.S. 168, 179 (1986).

In opening statement and closing argument the defense contended that the gun, ammunition and magazines officers stated they found in Williams' hotel room and car were not in fact Williams' and that officers were trying to "pin" the robberies on Williams. (Tr., p. 380, Ls. 3-22; p. 383, Ls. 17-19; p. 802, L. 17 – p. 803, L. 7.) The prosecutor properly responded by arguing that the defense theory that the firearm was planted and that the officers were trying to "pin" a crime on an innocent man was unsupported by the evidence and in fact the evidence showed good police work. The only even arguably objectionable part of that argument was the prosecutor's statement that the defense theory was "offensive to me." (Tr., p. 817, L. 13; p. 818, L. 7.) However, in context, even

that argument was not objectionable. <u>See State v. Gutierrez</u>, 143 Idaho 289, 294-95, 141 P.3d 1158, 1163-64 (Ct. App. 2006) (finding argument that jury "should be offended by the comments that were made about the victim in this case" were "not improper" "in context").

Even if subject to a valid objection, it is far from clear that the argument amounted to a constitutional violation. "[T]he United States Supreme Court has noted that in determining whether a prosecutor's comment violated the Fifth Amendment, 'a court should not lightly infer that a prosecutor intends an ambiguous remark to have its most damaging meaning or that a jury, sitting through lengthy exhortation, will draw that meaning from the plethora of less damaging interpretations." State v. Severson, 147 Idaho 694, 719, 215 P.3d 414, 439 (2009) (quoting Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637, 647 (1974)). Nothing in the record suggests the prosecutor was arguing based on matters other than the evidence presented; rather, the prosecutor's argument is based on the "tons of evidence" showing Williams robbed two banks. (Tr., p. 817, Ls. 4-6; see also Tr., p. 814, L. 19 - p. 815, L. 23 (going over instruction regarding what is evidence that excludes arguments of counsel); p. 815, L. 23 – p. 816, L. 15 ("evidence does not support" allegation that gun was planted); p. 818, Ls. 12-13 (state's theory supported by "plenty of evidence").)

Finally, there is no basis for a finding of prejudice in the record. The prosecutor started out his rebuttal argument by reading the court's instruction on what was evidence, excluding the arguments of counsel and that the jury was to base its verdict only on the evidence. (Tr., p. 814, L. 19 - p. 815, L. 19.) The

prosecutor even pointed out that the instruction meant his own argument was not evidence. (Tr., p. 815, Ls. 20-23.) There is no reason to believe on this record that the jury ignored its instructed duty. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>State v. Grantham</u>, 146 Idaho 490, 498, 198 P.3d 128, 136 (Ct. App. 2008) (jury presumed to follow instructions).

Williams argues on appeal that the prosecutor's rebuttal argument was misconduct for four reasons. (Appellant's brief, pp. 17-18.) Review of all four of his claims shows them to be meritless.

First, he claims the prosecutor "disparaged defense counsel by labeling his opening and closing remarks as ludicrous allegations." (Appellant's brief, pp. 17-18.) This is, to coin a phrase, a ludicrous allegation. First, Williams is stretching the truth when he labels the prosecutor's statements regarding ludicrous allegations as aimed at defense counsel's "opening and closing The prosecutor was clearly and specifically talking about the remarks." allegations that officers planted the gun and were trying to "pin" the robberies on Williams. (Tr., p. 815, L. 23 – p. 817, L. 12.) According to Merriam-Webster's online dictionary, an "allegation" is "a positive assertion especially of misconduct." (https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/allegation.) Accusing the police of planting a gun and trying to "pin" a crime on a person certainly meets this definition. Again according to Merriam-Webster, "ludicrous" is defined as "meriting derisive laughter or scorn as absurdly inept, false, or foolish." (https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/ludicrous.) The prosecutor's argument that the defense "allegation" (assertion of misconduct) was "ludicrous" (meriting scorn because it was false) was an entirely proper

argument. Williams' argument that the prosecutor's argument breached his constitutional rights merits scorn.

Williams next argues the prosecutor "interjected his personal beliefs by informing the jury that he was offended—personally and on law enforcement's behalf—by defense counsel's actions in defending his client." (Appellant's brief, p. 18.) The record, however, does not support Williams' claim. The prosecutor did not state that he was offended by the fact defense counsel was defending Williams. The prosecutor stated he was offended by the allegations that the officers planted evidence and tried to "pin" crimes on Williams. (Tr., p. 815, L. 20 – p. 818, L. 11.) Even though whether the prosecutor was in fact offended by the allegation that police planted evidence and tried to "pin" the robberies on Williams was not subject to presentation of evidence at trial, the argument that the police did not in fact plant evidence and did not "pin" the robberies on Williams was squarely based on the evidence presented at trial. (Id.) As set forth above, the prosecutor's argument that he was "offended" by the allegations of police misconduct, which allegations were unsupported by any evidence, did not rise to the level of a constitutional violation, much less a clear and prejudicial one.

Williams' third claim of prosecutorial misconduct is that he "vouched for the police's credibility by telling the jury that the 'truth' was 'exactly' what was said by the police." (Appellant's brief, p. 18.) What the prosecutor actually argued, however, is something quite different than represented by Williams. After arguing that if the police were willing to plant evidence to "pin" the robberies

on Williams they would have planted more than the gun (they would also have planted masks and jackets matching the descriptions of the masks and jackets used by the robber rather than discovering mask and jacket combinations that, although similar, did not match the descriptions), the prosecutor argued, "The truth is that's not what happened ladies and gentlemen. What happened is exactly what they testified to. These things were legitimately found in the defendant's possession." (Tr., p. 817, L. 14 – p. 818, L. 5.) The prosecutor's argument was thus based specifically on the officer's testimony and a proper hypothetical that if the defense theory of planted evidence and pinned crimes were true the evidence would have been different. There is no reasonable interpretation of this argument as being based on anything other than the evidence.

Williams' fourth and final claim of prosecutorial misconduct is that the prosecutor "vouched for the police, placing the State's prestige behind them, by telling the jury that this case was an example of 'good police work,' 'a fine job,' and, again, 'good police work,' which allowed them to solve the case." (Appellant's brief, p. 18.) It was perfectly proper for the state to rebut the defense argument that the case was about bad police work (planting evidence and trying to "pin" a crime on Williams) by asserting that the case involved "good police work." Williams' argument is meritless.

Williams has failed to show any of the three elements of a fundamental error claim. Contrary to Williams' claims, the prosecutor did not argue that "any defense was a ludicrous allegation, so offensive to the State and the police, that

the prosecutor could not help but comment on it." (Appellant's brief, p. 18.) Rather, the prosecutor responded to a specific argument (that evidence was planted and the police were trying to "pin" the robberies on Williams) and argued that it was not a credible argument based on the evidence. Because none of the three prongs of a fundamental error claim are shown by the record, Williams' claim must be rejected.

Williams Has Failed To Show Error In The Supplemental Brief

A. Introduction

Williams asserts five claims of error in his supplemental briefing. (Supplemental Brief of Appellant, Pro Se, p. 1 (hereinafter "Supplemental brief").) Review shows these claims to be without merit.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

The appellant must affirmatively demonstrate error on the record; the appellate court will not review the record in search of it. <u>Woods v. Crouse</u>, 101 Idaho 764, 620 P.2d 798 (1980); <u>State v. Knight</u>, 128 Idaho 862, 865, 920 P.2d 78, 81 (Ct. App. 1996). Pro se litigants are held to the same standards and rules of appellate procedure as are parties appealing through counsel. <u>State v.</u> <u>Sima</u>, 98 Idaho 643, 644, 570 P.2d 1333 (1977); <u>see also Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806, 835 n.46 (1975) ("[t]he right of self-representation is not ... a license not to comply with the relevant rules of procedural and substantive law").

C. <u>Williams' Claim Of Error For Denial Of "Hybrid" Representation Is Without</u> <u>Merit</u>

On the first day of trial, prior to jury selection, Williams expressed dissatisfaction with the tactical decisions of his trial counsel and requested substitute counsel. (Tr., p. 214, L. 7 – p. 224, L. 12.) The district court explained that an indigent defendant with appointed counsel did not have the right to choose which counsel represented him, that differences over trial strategy were not a proper ground to disqualify appointed counsel, and denied Williams' motion for substitution of counsel. (Tr., p. 224, L. 13 – p. 226, L. 7.) The district court then inquired if Williams wished to proceed with appointed counsel or to exercise his right to self-representation. (Tr., p. 226, Ls. 8-11.) Williams stated he was still thinking about that option. (Tr., p. 226, L. 12.) The district court reminded Williams that the jury was going to be in the courtroom in "about five minutes." (Tr., p. 226, Ls. 13-14.) At that point Williams asked, "Could they do voir dire for me and then I represent myself?" (Tr., p. 226, Ls. 15-16.) The district court answered, "No. You can either represent yourself or they do." (Tr., p. 226, Ls. 17-18.)

On appeal Williams, based on analogy to the Kentucky Constitution, claims he has a right under the Idaho Constitution to "hybrid" representation that was denied by the district court. (Supplemental brief, p. 2.) This claim was not asserted below, and is therefore not preserved for appellate consideration. <u>State v. Wheaton</u>, 121 Idaho 404, 407, 825 P.2d 501, 504 (1992) (declining to address claim that state constitution provided greater protection than the United States Constitution because defendant failed to preserve argument in district court).

Even if the merits of the claim are reached, Williams has failed to show error because there is no right to "hybrid" representation. Rather, such is a matter of discretion for the trial court. <u>See, e.g., State v. Clayton</u>, 100 Idaho 896, 898, 606 P.2d 1000, 1002 (1980) ("it is permissible to appoint 'standby' counsel to be present in the courtroom in the event the defendant needs and requests some assistance"); <u>State v. Averett</u>, 142 Idaho 879, 886, 136 P.3d 350, 357 (Ct. App. 2006) ("we hold that the appointment of standby counsel is discretionary and not a matter of constitutional right"). <u>See also United States v.</u> <u>Halbert</u>, 640 F.2d 1000, 1009 (9th Cir. 1981) ("A criminal defendant does not have an absolute right to both self-representation and the assistance of counsel."). Thus, although Williams had the right to representation at state expense and the right to self-representation upon waiver of the right to representation by counsel, he did not have the right to invoke the right to counsel for parts of the trial and the right to waive it and represent himself for other parts.

D. Williams Has Failed To Show That Pre-Trial Restraints Violated His Rights

Williams filed a motion to be released "from the excessive shackling he is subject to while in court" on pre-trial proceedings. (R., pp. 148-54.) He supported it with an affidavit, in which he claimed the restraints caused him "pain" that made it "difficult to concentrate" and to "communicate," precluded him from taking notes, and had thus "grossly interfered with [his] ability to cooperate with counsel" and "seriously" impaired his "mental facilities," among other allegations. (R., pp. 156-57.) The district court heard evidence from Sergeant Harris of the sheriff's office and considered argument on the motion. (R., pp. 171-73.) The

district court denied the motion, first noting that its ruling did not extend to use of restraints at trial,⁴ on four bases: (1) the "same" constitutional standards applicable to trial did not apply to pre-trial proceedings; (2) Williams did not have any specific physical or psychological conditions exacerbated by the restraints; (3) Williams did pose "legitimate security risks" because of his history of "crimes of violence" and assaultive and physically resistive behavior with correctional and jail staff; (4) the "level of restraints for pretrial hearings are necessary" and "don't infringe on constitutional rights." (R., pp. 173-74.) Application of the relevant legal standards shows no error.

"[T]he Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments prohibit the use of physical restraints visible to the jury absent a trial court determination, in the exercise of its discretion, that they are justified by a state interest specific to a particular trial." <u>Deck v. Missouri</u>, 544 U.S. 622, 629 (2005). This is because of the "adverse effect which the physical restraints [have] upon the presumption of innocence." <u>State v. Crawford</u>, 99 Idaho 87, 95, 577 P.2d 1135, 1143 (1978). However, restraints may be used in trial if "overriding concerns for safety or judicial decorum predominate." <u>Id.</u> at 96, 577 P.2d at 1144. "Neither the United States Supreme Court nor the Idaho Supreme Court have held that due process prohibits routine shackling of adults in preliminary proceedings" <u>State v. Doe</u>, 157 Idaho 43, 56, 333 P.3d 858, 871 (Ct. App. 2014).

 $^{^4}$ The defense ultimately did not object to the restraints used during trial proceedings, which were minimal and hidden from the jury. (Tr., p. 182, L. 1 – p. 184, L. 14; p. 755, Ls. 6-23.)

Williams' claim of error on appeal fails first because it is moot and because it is necessarily harmless. "An issue becomes moot if it does not present a real and substantial controversy that is capable of being concluded by judicial relief." <u>State v. Barclay</u>, 149 Idaho 6, 8, 232 P.3d 327, 329 (2010) (citations omitted). Error which, beyond a reasonable doubt, did not contribute to the verdict is harmless. <u>State v. Parker</u>, 157 Idaho 132, 140, 334 P.3d 806, 814 (2014). Because Williams' shackling at pre-trial proceedings did not infringe upon the presumption of innocence at trial, the error did not contribute to the verdict and was therefore harmless. Because holding anew the pre-trial hearings without vacating the verdict is pointless, no viable remedy for the alleged error can be provided.

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